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DECISION 


We find cause for the Missouri Board of Pharmacy (Board) to place Patricia Marie Nedrow’s name on the pharmacy technician employment disqualification list for violating drug laws by causing drugs to be misbranded.

Procedure


Nedrow filed a complaint on January 23, 2002, appealing the Board’s decision to place her name on the employment disqualification list.  This Commission convened a hearing on the complaint on June 26, 2002.  Assistant Attorney General Elena M. Vega represented the Board.  Kenneth V. Byrne represented Nedrow.


The matter became ready for our decision on November 18, 2002, when the last written argument was filed. 

Rulings on Evidence

1.  Respondent’s Exhibits F and G


At the hearing, Nedrow objected to the admission of Respondent’s Exhibits F and G on grounds of relevancy.  Respondent’s Exhibit F is the K-Mart pharmacy’s list of the four drugs dispensed to Nedrow with the total price for each drug.  Respondent’s Exhibit G is the pharmacy’s list of the co-payments for each drug.  We took the objections with the case.  


The test for relevancy is whether the proffered evidence tends to prove or disprove a fact in issue or corroborates other evidence.  King v. Ryals, 981 S.W.2d 151, 155 (Mo. App., E.D. 1998).  Respondent’s Exhibits F and G corroborate the evidence of the drugs dispensed to Nedrow, the co-payment amounts paid for the drugs, the total prices of the drugs, and the remaining amounts payable by the insurer.  We overrule Nedrow’s objection and admit Respondent’s Exhibits F and G.

2.  Respondent’s Exhibit K


Nedrow objected to the admission of Respondent’s Exhibit K, Nedrow’s medical record from Dr. Ream’s office.  Nedrow argued that the Board was attempting to introduce a medical record without the doctor to testify that these were the actual records.  The Board argued that the doctor’s employee who testified at the hearing was qualified to show that the records were made in the regular course of business.  The Board asserts that the medical record shows that there was no record of any prescription called in for Nedrow and that Nedrow had not called the doctor’s office to request that prescriptions be called in.  We took the objection with the case.  


Section 536.070(10)
 provides the business record exception to the hearsay rule for administrative hearings as follows:


Any writing or record, whether in the form of an entry in a book or otherwise, made as a memorandum or record of an act, transaction, occurrence or event, shall be admissible as evidence of the act, transaction, occurrence or event, if it shall appear that 

it was made in the regular course of any business, and that it was the regular course of such business to make such memorandum or record at the time of such act, transaction, occurrence, or event or within a reasonable time thereafter.  All other circumstances of the making of such writing or record, including lack of personal knowledge by the entrant or maker, may be shown to affect the weight of such evidence, but such showing shall not affect its admissibility.  The term “business” shall include business, profession, occupation and calling of every kind. 

(Emphasis added.)  Although Dr. Ream’s employee did not have personal knowledge of all the matters set forth in the medical record, that lack of personal knowledge “shall not affect its admissibility” under section 536.070(10).  The medical record was made in the regular course of Dr. Ream’s business, and it was the regular course of the physician’s business to make such a record.  Therefore, section 536.070(10) requires us to admit the record.  Pursuant to the statute, Nedrow’s objection goes to the weight of the evidence, not to its admissibility.  Her objection as to admissibility is overruled, and Exhibit K is admitted into evidence.

Findings of Fact

1. Nedrow is registered by the Board as a pharmacy technician, Registration No. 2000158103.  That registration is, and was at all relevant times, current and active.  

2. Dr. Sheryl Ream was employed as a primary care physician in internal medicine and pediatrics by the Barnes Jewish Christian (BJC) office in Arnold, Missouri, from March 6, 1997, to December 31, 2000.  Nedrow was employed as a pharmacy technician by BJC at the same time that Dr. Ream was employed there.  

3. On January 1, 2001, Dr. Ream left BJC to begin private practice at Arnold Internal Medicine and Pediatrics.  Nedrow was familiar with various employees of Dr. Ream at her private practice, including Dianne Bandur.  Bandur had previously worked with Nedrow at BJC. 

4. On March 7, 2001, Nedrow went to an appointment as a patient with Dr. Ream.  Dr Ream prescribed Vioxx and Maxzide for Nedrow.  Dr. Ream did not prescribe any other medications for Nedrow at any time.   

5. On Thursday, July 19, 2001, the K-Mart pharmacy at 3901 LeMay Ferry Road, 

St. Louis, Missouri, received a telephone call from a female identifying herself as Diane purportedly from Dr. Ream’s office.  The caller placed a telephone order for Norvasc, Vioxx, Prevacid and Diovan/HCTZ for Nedrow.  The K-Mart pharmacy did not have information about Nedrow in its computer, so the caller provided Nedrow’s address, phone number, date of birth, insurance information, and indicated that the co-payment on the Diovan/HCTZ (90-day supply) should be $50.  The caller informed the pharmacy that Nedrow would pick up the prescriptions on Saturday, July 21, 2001.

6. Norvasc, Vioxx, Prevacid and Diovan/HCTZ are drugs requiring prescriptions.

7. The K-Mart pharmacy found a discrepancy in that the co-payment for the Diovan/HCTZ was $75.  The pharmacy tried to call Nedrow’s number, but received a message that the number was no longer in service.  On July 19, 2001, the pharmacy tried to call Dr. Ream’s office to verify Nedrow’s phone number.  Dr. Ream’s office informed the pharmacy that Diane and Dr. Ream were not working on that day and were not in the office.  

8. Dr. Ream’s office did not call in the telephone order for Norvasc, Vioxx, Prevacid, and Diovan/HCTZ for Nedrow to the K-Mart pharmacy on or about July 19, 2001.  Dr. Ream did not prescribe those drugs on or about July 19, 2001, not did she authorize a telephone order for Nedrow.  

9. K-Mart reported the unauthorized telephone order to the police.  The police instructed K-Mart to fill the prescriptions, verify the identification of the individual who came to pick them, and call the police when the individual came to pick them up.

10. On Thursday evening, July 19, 2001, Nedrow telephoned the K-Mart pharmacy to ask if her four prescriptions were ready and to make sure that the Diovan/HCTZ was for 90 days.  The pharmacy informed her that the co-payment for the 90-day supply of Diovan/HCTZ was $75.     

11. Nedrow telephoned the pharmacy again on Friday, July 20, 2001, to make sure that the four prescriptions were ready.

12. On Saturday, July 21, 2001, Nedrow and her friend, Stephen Imrey, arrived at the K-Mart pharmacy for the prescriptions.  The pharmacy technician asked Nedrow if the four prescriptions were for her, and Nedrow said yes.  Nedrow presented her insurance card to the pharmacy technician.  Imrey or Nedrow handed cash to the pharmacy technician for the co-payment.  The pharmacy technician asked Nedrow to sign for the medications.  Nedrow signed the pharmacy’s insurance log for all four medications, and Nedrow took possession of the medications.  The label on each medication stated that Dr. Ream prescribed the medication for Nedrow. 

13. On or about August 29, 2001, the Board’s investigator met with Nedrow and her supervisor at Nedrow’s workplace, the Rehabilitation Institute of St. Louis.  Nedrow denied that she went to the K-Mart pharmacy on or about July 21, 2001, and she insisted that someone must have stolen her insurance card to obtain the prescriptions.

14. By letter dated December 27, 2001, the Board informed Nedrow that it intended to place her name on the employment disqualification list.  

Conclusions of Law

We have jurisdiction to hear the Board’s complaint.  Section 338.013.7.  The Board has the burden of proving that Nedrow has committed an act for which the law allows her name to be placed on the employment disqualification list.  See Missouri Real Estate Comm’n v. Berger, 764 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).  


The Board asserts that there is cause to place Nedrow’s name on the employment disqualification list under section 338.013, which provides in part:  

5.  The board shall maintain an employment disqualification list of the names of all pharmacy technicians who have been adjudicated and found guilty, or have entered a plea of guilty or nolo contendere to violation of any state, territory or federal drug law, been found guilty, pled guilty or nolo contendere to any felony or have violated any provision of subdivision (2), (3), (4), (6), (7), (11), (12) or (15) of subsection 2 of section 338.055. 

6.  After an investigation and a determination has been made to place a person’s name on the employment disqualification list, the board shall notify such person in writing mailed to the person’s last known address that:

(1) An allegation has been made against the person, the substance of the allegation and that an investigation has been conducted which tends to substantiate the allegation; 

(2) Such person’s name will be included in the employment disqualification list of the board;

(3) The consequences of the person of being listed and the length of time the person’s name will be on the list; and

(4) The person’s rights and the procedure to challenge the inclusion of the person’s name on the disqualification list.

7.  If no reply has been received by the board within thirty days after the board mailed the notice, the board may include the name of such person on such disqualification list.  The length of time a person’s name shall remain on the disqualification list shall be determined by the board.  The board may, also, provide for alternative sanctions, including, but not limited to, conditional 

employment based on a requirement that the person submit certain documentation within a certain period of time.  Any person who receives notice that the board intends to place the person’s name on the employment disqualification list may file an appeal with the administrative hearing commission as provided in chapter 621, RSMo. 

(Emphasis added.)  

The Board alleges that Nedrow’s involvement in fraudulently obtaining prescription medications “violated any provision of subdivision . . . (15) of subsection 2 of section 335.055”:

(15) Violation of the drug laws or rules and regulations of this state, any other state or the federal government[.]

(Emphasis added.)   

The Board alleges that Nedrow violated various state and federal laws and regulations involving misbranding of controlled substances.  Section 338.059 provides that prescription drugs are to be labeled with the names of the patient and prescriber: 


1.  It shall be the duty of a licensed pharmacist or a physician to affix or have affixed by someone under the pharmacist’s or physician’s supervision a label to each and every container provided to a consumer in which is placed any prescription drug upon which is typed or written the following information:

*   *   *

(3) The patient’s name;

*   *   *

(5) The prescriber’s name[.]

(Emphasis added.)

Section 196.015 provides:

The following acts and the causing thereof within the state of Missouri are hereby prohibited:

*   *   *  


(9) The alteration, mutilation, destruction, obliteration, or removal of the whole or any part of the labeling of, or the doing of any other act with respect to a food, drug, device, or cosmetic, if such act is done while such article is held for sale and results in such article being misbranded[.]

(Emphasis added.)

Section 196.100.1 provides in part:


1.  A drug or device shall be deemed to be misbranded:


(1) If its labeling is false or misleading in any particular[.]

(Emphasis added.)

Title 21 U.S.C. section 331 provides in part:

The following acts and the causing thereof are prohibited:

*   *   *


(b) The alteration, mutilation, destruction, obliteration, or removal of the whole or any part of the labeling of, or the doing of any other such act with respect to, a food, drug, device, or cosmetic, if such act is done while such article is held for sale (whether or not the first sale) after shipment in interstate commerce and results in such article being adulterated or misbranded.

(Emphasis added.)  

Title 21 U.S.C. section 352 provides in part:


A drug or device shall be deemed to be misbranded—


(a) False or misleading label.  If its labeling is false or misleading in any particular.


(Emphasis added.)

Under these provisions, as quoted in the Board’s complaint, causing drugs to be dispensed with false information on the label concerning the name of the prescribing physician or patient is deemed to be an act that results in the drug being misbranded.  


Nedrow argues that the Board is exceeding its jurisdiction by attempting to regulate her personal conduct as opposed to her conduct as a pharmacy technician.  She moves for dismissal of the complaint on the grounds that there was no evidence of any misconduct in the course or scope of her employment.  


Section 338.013 provides inter alia that a name shall be placed on the employment disqualification list for a violation of section 338.055.2(15).  The grounds set forth in section 338.055.2(15) are any violation of the drug laws of this state, any other state, or the federal government.  The statute is not limited to a violation of the drug laws in the course or scope of employment.  Therefore, we deny Nedrow’s motion to dismiss the complaint.


Nedrow argues that there was no evidence of any criminal conviction, guilty plea, or even a charge against her.  However, section 338.055.2(15) does not require any conviction, guilty plea or charge if there is evidence establishing that the drug laws were indeed violated.


Nedrow testified that she attempted to obtain a 90-day supply of Vioxx for herself to save a little money and also to have the prescriptions of her male friend transferred to the same pharmacy and refilled.  She indicated that she called her insurance company, Dr. Ream’s office, her friend’s physician, and the K-Mart pharmacy.  She argues that any violations were caused by the employees of the physicians and the pharmacy.  She also argues that there was no evidence that she caused any drug to be misbranded.


Nedrow’s testimony is contradicted by the testimony of the K-Mart pharmacy employees and of Dr. Ream’s office.  The pharmacy employees testified that all four prescriptions were called in by an individual who identified herself as Dianne, an employee of Dr. Ream’s office.  The caller indicated that all four prescriptions were for Nedrow.  The pharmacy employees testified that an individual identifying herself as Nedrow called the pharmacy twice to make sure 

that the prescriptions were ready to be picked up.  The pharmacy employees testified that when she picked up the prescriptions, she indicated that all the prescriptions were for her.  The pharmacy employee testified that Nedrow signed for all four prescriptions, as set forth in Respondent’s Exhibit H, the pharmacy log book, when she took possession of the drugs.  The employee of Dr. Ream’s office testified that neither Dr. Ream nor Dianne Bandur was working on the day that Dianne allegedly called in the prescriptions.  The employee of Dr. Ream established that Dr. Ream did not prescribe the four drugs for Nedrow and that Nedrow did not call Dr. Ream’s office to request the prescriptions.  In light of this conflict of testimony, we do not find Nedrow’s testimony credible.


The evidence does not establish the identity of the individual who called in the prescription to the pharmacy.  However, that information is not necessary to make a determination that Nedrow violated the drug laws. 

The evidence clearly establishes that Nedrow was involved in and was aware of the scheme to fraudulently obtain prescription drugs.  Nedrow picked up the four drugs, signed for all of them, and informed the pharmacy that the prescriptions were for her.  She subsequently denied that she went to the K-Mart pharmacy.  She now admits that she picked up the prescriptions, but insists that three of the drugs were for her friend and that any mistake was made by the pharmacy or the doctors’ offices.  However, there is no evidence to support that the pharmacy or doctors’ offices caused the labels to be false.  

The evidence establishes that Nedrow caused drugs to be dispensed that were labeled with false information concerning the prescribing physician and patient.  Therefore, Nedrow violated sections 338.059, 196.015, and 196.100 and 21 U.S.C. sections 331 and 352 by causing drugs to be misbranded.

Summary


There is cause to place Nedrow’s name on the employment disqualification list pursuant to sections 338.013(5) and 338.055.2(15).


SO ORDERED on December 11, 2002.



________________________________



KAREN A. WINN



Commissioner

�Statutory references are to the 2000 Revised Statutes of Missouri, unless otherwise noted.  


	�See Respondent’s Exhibit J and section 195.010(14).  
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